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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

DISTRICT OF WYOMING

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Plaintiff,
V.

J.R. SIMPLOT COMPANY and

SIMPLOT PHOSPHATES, LLC

Defendants.

.0. :t<D-6V-i^sr-F

COMPLAINT

The United States of America, by authority of the Attorney General of the United States

and through the undersigned attorneys, acting at the request of the Administrator of the United

States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), files this Complaint and alleges as follows:
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NATURE OF THIS ACTION

1. This is a civil action brought pursuant to Section 3008(a) and (g) of the

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act ("RCRA"), 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a), (g), and Section

325(b)(3) and (c)(4) of the Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act

("EPCRA"), 42 U.S.C. § 11045(b)(3), (c)(4), against J.R. Simplot Company ("Simplot") and its

subsidiary, Simplot Phosphates, LLC ("Simplot Phosphates") (collectively, "Defendants"). The

United States seeks injunctive relief and the assessment of civil penalties for environmental

violations at the fertilizer and agricultural products manufacturing facility owned and operated

by Defendants near Rock Springs, Wyoming ("Facility").

2. As set forth below. Defendants have violated and continue to violate statutory

and regulatory requirements applicable to the management and treatment, storage, or disposal of

solid and/or hazardous waste, found at Sections 3004 and 3005 of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 6924,

6925, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, including 40 C.F.R. Parts 261,262,264/265,

268, and 270, which are adopted and incorporated by reference in the Wyoming Hazardous

Waste Management Rules, Chapter 20-3 of Wyoming Administrative Code; and has also

violated the requirements found at Section 313 of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11023, and the

regulations promulgated thereunder set forth at 40 C.F.R. Part 372, that apply to the reporting of

toxic chemicals.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. This court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to

Section 3008(a) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a); Section 325 of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11045; and

28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 (federal question jurisdiction), 1332 (diversity), 1345 (jurisdiction when the

United States is a plaintiff), and 1355 (jurisdiction over penalties arising under federal claims).
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4. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b) and

1395(a), Section 3008(a)(1) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a)(1), and Section 325(b)(3) and (c)(4)

of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11045(b)(3), (c)(4), because Defendants are located and doing business

in this District and the violations occurred in this District.

NOTICE TO STATE

5. The State of Wyoming has been notified of this action in accordance with

Section 3008(a)(2) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a)(2).

DEFENDANTS AND DEFENDANTS* FACILITY

6. Simplot is a privately-held food and agribusiness company, incorporated in

Nevada, with its principal corporate offices in Boise, Idaho. Simplot has U.S. operations in

ranching, food processing, mining, and fertilizer production and retail in several states. Among

its production plants is the Facility, Simplot's fertilizer and agricultural products manufacturing

plant located in Rock Springs, which Simplot operates as part of its subsidiary, Simplot

Phosphates. At the Facility, Defendants principally manufacture phosphoric acid and phosphate

fertilizer products. Simplot was an owner and operator of the Facility beginning in 1992, in a

joint venture with Farmland Industries, Inc. Defendants have been the sole owner and operator

since 2003, when Simplot purchased its joint venture partner's interest in the operation and

renamed it Simplot Phosphates, LLC.

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY BACKGROUND

Resource Conservation And Recovery Act (RCRA)

7. Congress enacted RCRA in 1976 to amend the Solid Waste Disposal Act, and

enacted the Hazardous and Solid Waste Amendments in 1984 to further amend the Solid Waste

Disposal Act. RCRA establishes requirements to be administered by EPA and authorized states
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for addressing the generation, transportation, treatment, storage, or disposal of hazardous waste.

See 42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 - 6992k.

8. RCRA's subchapter III (RCRA §§ 3001-3023,42 U.S.C. §§ 6921-6940, known

as "Subtitle C"), required EPA to promulgate regulations establishing performance standards

applicable to facilities that generate, transport, treat, store, or dispose of hazardous wastes.

Together, RCRA Subtitle C and its implementing regulations, set forth at 40 C.F.R. Parts 260 -

279, comprise EPA's RCRA regulatory hazardous waste program.

9. Section 3006 of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6926, allows the Administrator to authorize

a state to administer its own hazardous waste program in lieu of the federal program when the

Administrator deems the state program to be equivalent to the federal program.

10. Pursuant to Section 3006(b) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6926(b), EPA granted the

State of Wyoming final authorization to administer its hazardous waste program in lieu of the

federal program on October 4,1995, effective October 18, 1995 (60 Fed. Reg. 51925). There

have been subsequent authorized revisions to the base program. Section 503(d) of the Wyoming

Environmental Quality Act^ Wyoming Statute (W.S.) § 35-1 l-503(d), provides the statutory

authority for the regulatory program "Wyoming Hazardous Waste Rules and Regulations,"

which includes the regulations that are part of the state program authorized by EPA. Wyoming

has incorporated the federal regulations by reference, as set forth generally in Chapter 1, Section

2, and specifically in subsection (a) of Sections 260 through 268,270,273, and 279

(corresponding, respectively, with 40 C.F.R. Parts 260 through 268,270, 273, and 279) of the

Wyoming Hazardous Waste Management Rules, Chapter 20-3 of Wyoming Administrative Code

(hereinafter "the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste program" or "the authorized Wyoming
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hazardous waste regulations"). The Wyoming Department of Environmental Quality is the State

agency designated to implement the authorized hazardous waste program in Wyoming.

11. Although EPA has granted the State authority to administer its hazardous waste

program in lieu of the federal program, EPA retains jurisdiction and authority to initiate an

independent enforcement action, pursuant to Section 3008(a)(2) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C.

§ 6928(a)(2). Because the provisions of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste program

operate in lieu of the federal RCRA regulations, and because Wyoming has incorporated by

reference the relevant RCRA regulations into the Wyoming program, the citations herein will be

to the authorized Wyoming program with the relevant incorporated federal citation also set forth.

12. Section 261 (a) of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste program

incorporates 40 C.F.R. § 261.2, which defines a solid waste as any discarded material that is not

otherwise excluded under 40 C.F.R. 261.4(a), or that is not excluded by variance. A discarded

material is any material which is abandoned, recycled, inherently waste-like, or a military

munition. Materials are solid waste under 40 C.F.R. § 261.2 if they are abandoned by being

disposed of, burned or incinerated, or accumulated, stored, or treated (but not recycled) before,

or in lieu of, being abandoned by being disposed of, bumed, or incinerated.

13. A solid waste is a hazardous waste if it is not excluded from regulation as a

hazardous waste under Section 261(a) of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste program,

incorporating 40 C.F.R. § 261.4(b), and it exhibits any of the characteristics of hazardous waste

identified in 40 C.F.R. Part 261, Subpart C, or it is listed in 40 C.F.R. Part 261, Subpart D.

14. Under Section 262(a) of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste program,

incorporating 40 C.F.R. Part 262, subpart C, characteristic hazardous wastes are assigned "D"

codes depending on the specific hazardous characteristic that the waste exhibits: a hazardous
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waste with a pH of less than 2.0, or greater than 12.5, exhibits the characteristic of corrosivity

and is assigned the D002 hazardous waste code as set forth in 40 C.F.R. § 261.2; a solid waste is

assigned the D006 cadmium hazardous waste code as set forth in 40 C.F.R. § 261.24 (using the

Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure), when the extract from a representative sample of

the waste contains greater than or equal to 1.0 milligrams per liter of cadmium; and, a solid

waste is assigned the D007 chromium hazardous waste code as set forth in 40 C.F.R. § 261.24

(using the Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure), when the extract from a representative

sample of the waste contains greater than or equal to 5.0 milligrams per liter of chromium.

15. Under Section 261(a) of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste program,

incorporating 40 C.F.R. § 261.4(b)(7), certain solid wastes from the extraction, beneficiation,

and processing of ores and minerals are excluded from the definition of hazardous wastes ("the

Bevill exclusion"). For a mineral processing waste to be excluded from hazardous waste

regulation under the Bevill exclusion (i.e., a "Bevill waste" or "Bevill-excluded waste"), it must

fall into one of the twenty specific categories of excluded wastes listed at 40 C.F.R.

§261.4(b)(7)(ii).

16. Only two wastes generated from phosphoric acid mineral processing operations

are Bevill-excluded wastes specifically excluded from hazardous waste regulation under the

Bevill exclusion: "[pjhosphogypsum from phosphoric acid production" and "process wastewater

from phosphoric acid production," pursuant to Section 261(a) of the authorized Wyoming

hazardous waste program, incorporating 40 C.F.R. § 261.4(b)(ii), (D), (P).

17. Chemical processing wastes, cleaning wastes, and other wastes generated in

production involving additional processing and refining, occurring after mineral processing

Case 2:20-cv-00125-NDF   Document 1   Filed 07/09/20   Page 6 of 28



creates the first saleable product, are not "process wastewater from phosphoric acid production"

and are not within the Bevill exclusion ("non-Bevill wastes").

18. If phosphogypsum and process wastewater from phosphoric acid production

that are Bevill-excluded wastes are mixed with hazardous wastes that are non-Bevill wastes, and

if the resulting mixture continues to exhibit a hazardous characteristic of the non-Bevill waste,

then the entire mixture is a hazardous waste pursuant to the Bevill Mixture Rule under Section

261(a) of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste program, incorporating 40 C.F.R.

§261.3(a)(2)(i).

19. Sections 264(a) and 265(a) of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste

program, incorporating 40 C.F.R. Parts 264/265, apply to owners and operators of facilities that

treat, store or dispose of hazardous waste.

20. Subsection (a) of Sections 262,264/265, 268, and 270 of the authorized

Wyoming hazardous waste program, incorporating EPA regulations (as relevant to this lawsuit),

requires that owners and operators of facilities that generate hazardous waste must, among other

things:

a. determine whether generated solid wastes are hazardous, as set forth in 40

C.F.R. §262.11;

b. treat, store, and dispose of hazardous waste in compliance with a permit or (if

they qualify for interim status) with interim status requirements pursuant to

Section 3005(a) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6925(a), and 40 C.F.R. Part 264 (or

Part 265 for interim status), and Part 270;

c. meet certain requirements for waste treatment prior to placement or disposal

of hazardous waste on the land, as set forth in 40 C.F.R. Part 268; and
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d. meet certain requirements that include having a plan for facility closure and

post-closure care, estimating the costs thereof, and establishing financial

assurance for closure, post-closure care, and third-party liability, as set forth in

40 C.F.R. Part 264 (or Part 265).

21. Pursuant to Sections 3008(a) and (g) and 3006(g) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C.

§§ 6928(a) and (g) and 6926(g), as amended by the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment

Act of 1990,28 U.S.C. § 2461, and the Debt Collection Improvement Act of 1996,31 U.S.C.

§ 3701, and 40 C.F.R. Part 19, the United States may enforce the federally-approved authorized

Wyoming hazardous waste program, as well as the federal regulations that remain effective in

Wyoming, by filing a civil action in United States District Court seeking civil penalties not to

exceed $25,000 per day per violation, and injunctive relief.

22. Pursuant to the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990,28

U.S.C. § 2461, as amended by 31 U.S.C. § 3701, and as provided in 40 C.F.R. Part 19, the

amounts specified in the foregoing paragraph increase to a civil penalty of up to $32,500 per day

for each violation of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6921, that occurred after March 15,2004, through

January 12,2009, up to $37,500 per day for each violation that occurred after January 12, 2009

and through November 2,2015, and up to $75,867 per day for each violation that occurred after

November 2,2015. Each day of such violation constitutes a separate violation pursuant to

Section 3008(g) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(g).

Emersencv Plannins And Community Rieht-To-Know Act (EPCRA)

23. Congress enacted EPCRA in 1986, imposing requirements for federal, state and

local governments, tribes, and industry. These requirements covered emergency planning and

"Community Right-to-Know" reporting on hazardous and toxic chemicals. See 42 U.S.C.
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§ 11001 - 11050. Pursuant to Section 313 of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11023, EPA promulgated the

Toxic Chemical Release Reporting: Community Right-to-Know Rule, 40 C.F.R. Part 372.

24. Section 313(b) of EPCRA and 40 C.F.R. § 372.22 address owners and operators

of facilities that have 10 or more full-time employees; are in a specific Standard Industrial

Classification (SIC), for which the corresponding North American Industry Classification

System (NAICS) codes are included under 40 C.F.R. §§ 372.23(b) and (c); and manufacture,

process, or otherwise use a toxic chemical listed under Section 313(c) of EPCRA and 40 C.F.R.

§ 372.65, in quantities exceeding the threshold set forth in 40 C.F.R. § 372.25. The reporting

threshold under 40 C.F.R. § 372.25 for years beginning with 1989 is 25,000 lbs. per year.

25. Under Section 313(b) of EPCRA, owners and operators are required to annually

submit a Toxic Chemical Release Inventory Reporting Form, EPA Form 9350-1 (Form R)

("Form R" or "toxic release report"), for each toxic chemical listed under section 313(c) of

EPCRA and 40 C.F.R. § 372.65, that was manufactured, processed, or otherwise used during the

preceding calendar year in quantities exceeding the established toxic chemical thresholds.

26. Section 313(b)(l)(C)(i) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11023(b)(l)(C)(i), defines

"manufacture" to mean "to produce, prepare, import, or compound a toxic chemical." Any toxic

chemical produced coincidentally during the manufacture, processing use, or disposal of another

chemical or mixture of chemicals, including a toxic chemical that is separated from that other

chemical or mixture of chemicals as a byproduct, and a toxic chemical that remains in that other

chemical or mix of chemicals as an impurity is "manufactured." 40 C.F.R. § 372.3.

27. Section 325(b)(3) and (c)(4) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11045(b)(3), (c)(4),

authorizes the Administrator of EPA to commence a civil action to assess and recover a civil
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penalty of up to $25,000 per day for each violation, whenever any person has violated or is in

violation of any requirement of EPCRA Section 313.

28. Pursuant to the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 1990,28

U.S.C. § 2461, as amended by 31 U.S.C. § 3701, and as provided in 40 C.F.R. part 19, the

amounts specified in the foregoing paragraph increase to a civil penalty of up to $27,500 per day

for each violation occurring on and after January 31,1997, up to $32,500 per day for each

violation occurring on or after March 15, 2004, to $37,500 per day for each violation occurring

on or after January 12, 2009, and up to $58,328 per day for each violation occurring after

November 2,2015.

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

Facility and Process Description

29. The Facility is located approximately 5 miles south of Rock Springs, Wyoming

and has been operated at this site since about 1986, initially by Chevron Resources Company

and, since 1992, by Simplot with its joint venture partner (until 2003), and by Simplot through its

subsidiary Simplot Phosphates (from 2003 to the present).

30. On October 23-24, 2007, EPA conducted an on-site inspection of the Facility

("the October 2007 inspection"). The inspection included a comprehensive review of the

Facility's processes and operations, discussions with Facility personnel, sampling of waste

streams, and analysis of the samples. Based on the October 2007 inspection, EPA issued a

Notice of Violation on June 18, 2009 to inform Defendants of EPA's findings and specifically

identify what EPA believed were ongoing violations at the Facility. EPA performed subsequent

re-inspections of the Facility, including in 2014 and 2017.

10
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31, The Facility manufactures phosphoric acid, an ingredient in both the liquid and

dry products produced there; superphosphoric acid ("SPA"), a concentrated form of phosphoric

acid; and, dry granulated fertilizers such as monoammonium phosphate ("MAP"). The Facility

also manufactures the chemical product fluorosilicic acid ("FSA").

32. Phosphoric acid is produced by the reaction of phosphate rock with sulfuric acid

in two isothermal reactors (mineral processing). The sulfuric acid is produced on-site at plants

separate from the phosphoric acid plant. Phosphate ore mined at Simplot Phosphates' Vernal,

Utah mine is beneficiated (separated from sand and clay) and sent to the Rock Springs, Facility

via a 96-mile slurry pipeline where it is reacted with sulfuric acid. The calcium phosphate in the

phosphate rock is converted by reaction with concentrated sulfuric acid, yielding phosphoric acid

as well as solid calcium sulfate, known as "phosphogypsum" (or "gypsum"). Phosphogypsum is

filtered from the phosphoric acid, slurried with process wastewater in three slurry tanks

("gypsum tanks"), and the resultant slurry is pumped to a lined phosphogypsum stack system

("gypsum stack") for disposal there. Because the production of phosphoric acid is a water-

intensive process and water is used throughout the process (e.g., as acid dilution, evaporators,

condensers, and as a pipe and tank cleaning agent), approximately 120 million to 170 million

gallons of process wastewater are constantly stored in and circulating throughout the gypsum

stack system and the phosphoric acid production process. The gypsum stack and process

wastewater return pond ("gypsum pond") are lined with a synthetic 16 oz. non-woven

polypropylene geotextile and a 60 to 80 mil high density polyethylene liner over that. The

Facility is not authorized to discharge any process water to the environment under environmental

permits.

11
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33. After the phosphate rock is received at the Facility via the slurry pipeline from

the Vernal mine, the slurry is stored in one of four storage tanks. The phosphate rock slurry is

then directed to a reactor tank at the front end of the phosphoric acid plant where the slurry is

mixed with concentrated sulfuric acid and portions of recycled phosphoric acid. The result is a

dilute liquid phosphoric acid (28%) and gypsum solids. The slurry of dilute phosphoric acid and

gypsum is pumped to the filter tables where the liquid acid is drawn off the bottom and gypsum

is scraped off the top. The gypsum filter cake (also called gypsum), which is rinsed with process

water to recover residual phosphate values, is slurried with process water and then pumped to the

gypsum stack where a portion of the mixture remains. Some of the fluorine present in the

phosphate rock is also released as hydrogen fluoride gas. The phosphoric acid is then further

concentrated by driving off the excess water by use of the steam heated evaporators in the

phosphoric acid plant resulting in an acid concentration of approximately 54%. At this level of

concentration, it is known as "merchant grade acid" ("MGA"). Some of the MGA is used as

feedstock for other products produced at the Facility, such as SPA and MAP, while some is sold

directly as product.

34. SPA, a phosphoric acid product more concentrated than MGA, is manufactured

at the Facility through additional processing and refining. SPA is made by further evaporating

water, until a 68% phosphoric acid product is produced. The acid is evaporated in the

phosphoric acid plant building and sent to the SPA plant building for further refining that entails

cooling, mechanical agitation, filtering of precipitated impurities, and final polishing. SPA is

sold to customers, who mostly use it to produce ammonium polyphosphates principally for

agricultural, and some industrial, applications.

12
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35. SPA manufacturing generates wastes and other materials. Condensates and

evaporation wastes from SPA production are routed to the gypsum stack for disposal. Filter

solids from SPA production have a high phosphate content and are a feedstock used in producing

granulated fertilizer at the Facility.

36. MAP, a dry (granulated) fertilizer product, is manufactured at the Facility by

means of additional chemical processing and refining. MAP is made by reacting phosphoric acid

with ammonia, which produces the crystalline precipitate MAP. Filter solids from the

phosphoric acid and SPA plants are sent to the ammonium phosphate plant where it is mixed

with ammonia in a reactor vessel. The resultant phosphate slurry is then fed to a granulator to

create pellets which are subsequently dried. This solid material then passes through a system of

sizing screens and mills to achieve the desired granule size.

37. Wastes from the production of MAP at the Facility include residues from the

production process. These wastes (residues), designated D007 (chromium), after neutralization,

were periodically sent to the gypsum stack. In recent years, no wastes from granulation have

been sent to the gypsum stack.

38. FSA is manufactured at the Facility by means of additional chemical processing

and refining. FSA is produced from the vapors recovered from evaporation units used in

producing phosphoric acid. The recovered vapors produce a condensate containing fluorides.

The FSA production systems produce a product with an acid strength of 23- 25% HiSiFe that is

typically used by municipalities as a water fluoridation chemical. Once the concentration of the

process condensate reaches the desired strength, the process condensate is sent to clarifiers to

remove solids. The clarified FSA is pumped through a final cartridge filter element to remove

any remaining solids to produce a clear product FSA.

13
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39. Wastes from the production of FSA at the Facility include "heels" (solids

accumulated in FSA clarifiers), designated D002 (corrosivity) and D004 (arsenic); wastewater

from the cleaning of filter elements, designated D002 (corrosive) and D008 (chromium); and,

spent filter cartridges. The heels and wastewater are disposed of in the gypsum stack. The spent

filter cartridges are disposed of at a local landfill. The current practice is to send any filter

cartridge that exhibits a hazardous characteristic offsite to a RCRA-permitted facility.

40. A laboratory at the Facility conducts chemical testing of products for quality

control. Wastes designated D007 (chromium) were placed in the laboratory sump and disposed

of in the gypsum stack. Simplof s practice in recent years has been to collect all hazardous waste

from the laboratory for offsite disposal at a RCRA-permitted facility.

41. Phosphate ore mined in Utah contains mostly phosphate but it also contains a

variety of metals and mineral compounds including aluminum, arsenic, chromium, copper, lead,

magnesium, manganese, mercury, nickel, and zinc. The other metals/minerals of concern found

in phosphate ore are not normally present in their "native" or elemental state (i.e., existing in

nature uncombined with other elements), but are present as a native element and/or

metal/mineral compounds (e.g., metal silicates, metal carbonates, metal oxides or metal sulfides).

During the manufacturing processes at the Facility, metal compounds are "liberated" from

phosphate ore and chemically converted as a result of being dissolved in the phosphoric and

sulfuric acids, and fluorine is "liberated" as hydrogen fluoride. These converted compounds are

considered to be byproducts or impurities associated with the manufacturing process, depending

upon whether the compounds are separated from the product or remain in the product. As a

result of the process of digesting ore in reactor vessels, some metals remain predominantly in

solution, some are almost entirely precipitated by reaction with sulfate ions, and some partition

14

Case 2:20-cv-00125-NDF   Document 1   Filed 07/09/20   Page 14 of 28



between product acid, the phosphogypsum waste, and the process wastewaters. Some of the

metal compounds end up in the fertilizer products.

42. The Facility uses water in various production processes, including, but not

limited to, condensers, flash coolers, air pollution control devices (scrubbers), and equipment

cleaning and maintenance. This results in the accumulation of contaminants (including

fluorides) in the water, resulting in aqueous wastes. Prior to reuse in the various processes, the

aqueous wastes must be processed to remove such contamination. The processing occurs in the

gypsum stack, where excess fluorides and other contaminants are precipitated from the water.

Approximately 11,000 gallons per minute (gpm) of aqueous wastes are sent from production

processes at the Facility to the gypsum stack system for disposal.

43. Cleaning operations occur at various tanks and units at the Facility on a regular

basis, typically involving the circulation of fresh water or water from the gypsum stack system

into various tanks and other units to remove contamination. On occasion, sulfiiric acid is added

to the cleaning solution to assist in the cleaning process. Upon being removed from the tank or

other unit, the spent cleaning solution, designated D002 (corrosive) and D008 (chromium), is

placed in the gypsum stack.

44. In Simplot's phosphoric acid and fertilizer production areas, spills and leaks of

phosphoric acid and sulfuric acid occasionally occur. Based on EPA's knowledge of the

Facility's processes, these spills and leaks can commingle with process wastewater being

transported from the production areas to the gypsum stack system.

45. The wastes detailed above that are routed to the gypsum stack system are

combined into a slurry. In the stack, the slurry separate into solid and liquid fractions. The

liquid portion is decanted off the top and combined with leachate draining from the gypsum

15
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stack and returned to the plant at the rate of approximately 11,000 gpm for reuse. The solid

portion (phosphogypsum) settles to the bottom and continually increases the size of the gypsum

stack, which has grown to approximately 420 acres in size and up to about 200 feet tall. Simplot

does not remove or reuse the solid fraction that remains in the gypsum stack.

General RCRA Alleeations

46. Each of Defendants is a "person" within the meaning of Section 1004(15) of

RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6903(15), which includes corporations.

47. Each of Defendants is and has been at all times relevant to this action an owner

and/or operator of the Facility within the meaning of Section 260(a) of the authorized Wyoming

hazardous waste program, incorporating 40 C.F.R. § 260.10.

48. The gypsum and the wastewaters generated at the Facility from phosphoric acid

production processes are, respectively, "[p]hosphogypsum from phosphoric acid production" and

"process wastewater from phosphoric acid production" under Section 261(a) of the authorized

Wyoming hazardous waste program, incorporating 40 C.F.R. § 261.4(b)(7)(ii)(D) and (P), and

therefore are Bevill-excluded wastes, i.e., they are not hazardous wastes under the Bevill

exclusion.

49. Other wastes generated at the Facility, including wastes generated from

chemical or other processing that occurs after the first saleable product, scrubber wastes, spills

and leaks, and cleaning wastes are not "process wastewater from phosphoric acid production" are

non-Bevill wastes that do not qualify for the Bevill exclusion. When these non-Bevill wastes

exhibit a hazardous characteristic and are discarded, they are "solid wastes" and "hazardous

wastes" within the relevant provisions of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste program and

RCRA.

16
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(RCRA - Failure to Determine if a Solid Waste is a Hazardous Waste)

50. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 22 and paragraphs 29 through 49 are re-

alleged and incorporated herein by reference,

51. Section 262(a) of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste program,

incorporating 40 C.F.R. § 262.11, requires, among other things, that a person who generates a

solid waste must determine if that waste is a hazardous waste.

52. Since at least the time of the October 2007 inspection, and thereafter to the

present. Defendants routinely generated the following solid wastes at the Facility:

a. SPA air pollution control scrubber blowdown (effluent), a D002

(corrosive) hazardous waste, managed in the gypsum pond;

b. A Evaporator cleaning solution waste (spent pipe cleaning solution), a

D002 (corrosive) and D007 (chromium) hazardous waste, managed in the

gypsum stack;

c. Tank farm sump contents, a D002 (corrosive) hazardous waste;

d. Laboratory sump contents, a D007 (chromium) hazardous waste;

e. Fluorosilicic acid (FSA) "heels" (solids accumulated in FSA clarifiers), a

D002 (corrosivity) and D004 (arsenic) hazardous waste;

f. Gypsum pond decant water, a D002 (corrosivity) and D004 (chromium)

hazardous waste, managed in the gypsum stack;

g. Granulation waste, managed in the gypsum stack as of October 2007 and

for some years thereafter before that practice was discontinued; and
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h. Granulation sump liquids, a D002 (corrosive) and D007 (chromium)

hazardous waste.

53. The solid wastes enumerated in paragraph 52 above were hazardous for the

characteristics listed there for each.

54. Since at least the time of the October 2007 inspection and thereafter as to some

or all of the above wastes. Defendants did not determine if any of the solid wastes enumerated in

paragraph 52 were hazardous wastes, in violation of Section 262(a) of the authorized Wyoming

hazardous regulations, incorporating 40 C.F.R. § 262.11.

55. Defendants are liable for injunctive relief and civil penalties pursuant to section

3008(a) and (g) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a), (g), for each day they failed to make a hazardous

waste determination for solid wastes generated at the Facility.

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(RCRA - Treatment, Storage, or Disposal ofHazardous Waste in the Gypsum Stack
Without a Permit or Interim Status)

56. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 22 and paragraphs 29 through 49 are re-

alleged and incorporated herein by reference.

57. Sections 264(a) and 270(a) of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste

program, incorporating the requirements of RCRA section 3005(a), 42 USC § 6925(a) and 40

C.F.R. Parts 264/265 and 270, require, among other things, that the owner and operator of a

hazardous waste management unit must have a permit (or interim status) for the treatment,

storage, or disposal of any hazardous waste during the active life of the unit.

58. Since at least the time of the October 2007 inspection, and continuing thereafter

to the present. Defendants routinely circulated hazardous process wastewater in the Facility's

gypsum stack prior to treatment, storage, or disposal. The hazardous process wastewater is a
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mixture which has at times included ail, and currently includes some, of the following hazardous

wastes:

a. SPA air pollution control scrubber blowdown (effluent), a D002

(corrosive) hazardous waste, managed in the gypsum pond;

b. A Evaporator pipe-cleaning solution waste, a D002 (corrosive) and D007

(chromium) hazardous waste, managed in the gypsum stack;

c. Tank farm sump contents, a D002 (corrosive) hazardous waste;

d. Laboratory sump contents, a D007 (chromium) hazardous waste;

e. FSA "heels" (solids accumulated in FSA clarifiers), a D002 (corrosivity)

and D004 (arsenic) hazardous waste; and

f. Gypsum pond decant water, a D002 (corrosivity) and D004 (chromium)

hazardous waste, managed in the gypsum stack.

59. Defendants did not have a RCRA hazardous waste permit (or interim status) for

treatment, storage, or disposal in the Facility's gypsum stack, and therefore have been in

continuous violation of section 3005 of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6925, and the applicable regulatory

requirements found in Sections 264(a)/265(a) and 270(a) of the authorized Wyoming hazardous

waste regulations, respectively incorporating 40 C.F.R. Parts 264/265 and 270. As of the

October 2007 inspection and continuing thereafter, in some cases to the present. Defendants did

not comply with applicable RCRA hazardous waste permit requirements, including the

requirements for the owner and operator of a facility:

a. to develop and follow a written waste analysis plan describing the

procedures that will be carried out to comply with the requirements set
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forth at 40 C.F.R. § 264.13(a), and to keep this plan at the facility (40

C.F.R. § 264.13(b));

b. to have a contingency plan for the facility designed to minimize hazards to

human health or the environment from fires, explosions, or any unplanned

sudden or non-sudden release of hazardous waste or hazardous waste

constituents to air, soil, or surface water (40 C.F.R. § 264.51(a));

c. to have a written closure plan and post-closure plan for the facility, and

contingent closure and post-closure plans for certain surface

impoundments from which the owner or operator intends to remove or

decontaminate the hazardous waste at partial or final closure, and to

submit the required closure and post-closure plans for approval as part of

a permit application (40 C.F.R. §§ 264.112(a), 264.118(a));

d. to have a detailed written estimate, in current dollars, of the cost of closing

the facility and for post-closure monitoring and maintenance of the

facility, in accordance with applicable closure and post-closure regulations

(40 C.F.R. §§ 264.142(a), 264.144);.

e. to establish financial assurance for closure and post-closure care of the

facility in accordance with the approved closure and post-closure plans for

the facility, and choose from the specified financial assurance options

(40 C.F.R. § 264.143(a) - (f) (40 C.F.R. §§ 264.143,264.145); and

f. to demonstrate financial responsibility for bodily injury and property

damage to third parties caused by non-sudden accidental occurrences

arising from operations of the facility by maintaining liability coverage for
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non-sudden accidental occurrences in the amount of at least $3 million per

occurrence with an annual aggregate of at least $6 million, exclusive of

legal defense costs (40 C.F.R. § 264.147(b)).

60. Defendants are liable for injunctive relief and civil penalties pursuant to section

3008(a) and (g) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a), (g), for their continuing disposal of hazardous

waste in the phosphogypsum stack system without a permit (or interim status) and their

continuing failure to comply with some or all of the requirements associated therewith.

TfflRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(RCRA - Failure to Meet Land Disposal Restrictions for Prohibited Hazardous Wastes)

61. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 22 and paragraphs 29 through 49 are re-

alleged and incorporated herein by reference.

62. Section 268(a) of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste program,

incorporating 40 C.F.R. Part 268, Subpart A, requires, among other things, that a prohibited

waste which exhibits a characteristic under 40 C.F.R. Part 261, subpart C may not be land

disposed unless the waste complies with the treatment standards under subpart D of 40 C.F.R.

Part 268 (40 C.F.R. § 268.9(c)); that a generator of hazardous waste must determine if the waste

needs to be treated before it can be land disposed (40 C.F.R. § 268.7(a)); and that the initial

generator of a solid waste must determine each EPA Hazardous Waste Number (waste code)

applicable to the waste in order to determine the applicable treatment standards under subpart D

of 40 C.F.R. Part 268, Land Disposal Restrictions (LDRs) (40 C.F.R. § 268.9(a)).

63. Section 268(a) of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste program,

incorporating 40 C.F.R. § 268.40(a), requires, among other things, that a prohibited waste

identified in the table "Treatment Standards for Hazardous Wastes" may be land disposed only if

it meets the requirements found in the table. For D002 corrosive wastewaters, the waste must
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meet the DEACT code and also meet 40 C.F.R. § 268.48. For D007 chromium wastewaters, the

waste must have no more than 2.77 mg/l and must meet 40 C.F.R. § 268.48 standards.

64. Section 268(a) of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste program,

incorporating 40 C.F.R. § 268.48 (the "Universal Treatment Standards" regulations), requires,

among other things, that prohibited wastewaters must contain no more than 0.69 mg/l of

cadmium and no more than 2.77 mg/l of chromium.

65. Since at least the time of the October 2007 inspection, and continuing thereafter

to the present. Defendants routinely disposed of hazardous waste, which is prohibited from land

disposal pursuant to Section 268(a) of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste program,

incorporating 40 C.F.R. §§ 268.9(c), 268.40(a), and 268.48 ("prohibited waste"), in the Facility's

gypsum stack. Nor did Defendants comply with other LDR requirements of 40 C.F.R. Part 268,

incorporated by Section 268(a) of the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste program, including

requirements to determine if the waste needed to be treated before being land disposed, and to

determine the applicable waste code(s) necessary to determining the applicable treatment

standards for such waste.

66. At the time of the October 2007 inspection, the following hazardous wastes

were eventually being disposed of in the gypsum stack, a practice that continued thereafter to the

present for some or all of these wastes:

a. SPA air pollution control scrubber blowdown (effluent), a D002

(corrosive) hazardous waste, initially managed in the gypsum pond;

b. A Evaporator cleaning solution waste, a D002 (corrosive) and D007

(chromium) hazardous waste, managed in the gypsum stack;

c. Tank farm sump contents, a D002 (corrosive) hazardous waste;
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d. Laboratory sump contents, a D007 (chromium) hazardous waste;

e. FSA "heels" (solids accumulated in FSA clarifiers), a D002 (corrosivity)

and D004 (arsenic) hazardous waste;

f. Gypsum pond decant water, a D002 (corrosivity) and D004 (chromium)

hazardous waste, managed in the gypsum stack; and

g. Granulation waste, managed in the gypsum stack as of October 2007 and

for some years thereafter before that practice was discontinued.

67. At the time of the October 2007 inspection, the A Evaporator Cleaning Waste

disposed of in the gypsum stack was a characteristic hazardous waste, containing above 5.0 mg/1

of chromium and had a pH of 0.69. This waste was a prohibited waste in that it was a D002 and

D007 hazardous waste, did not meet the treatment standards for hazardous waste at 40 C.F.R.

§ 268.40(a) and did not meet the Universal Treatment Standards for chromium set forth at 40

C.F.R. § 268.48.

68. At the time of the October 2007 inspection, the tank farm sump contents in the

gypsum stack, which contained a mixture of Bevill-excluded and non-Bevill wastes and are

therefore subject to RCRA, were a characteristic hazardous waste and contained at least 15

milligrams per liter of chromium. This waste was a prohibited waste, in that it was a D002

hazardous waste, did not meet the treatment standards for hazardous waste set forth at 40 C.F.R.

§ 268.40(a), and did not meet the Universal Treatment Standards for chromium set forth at 40

C.F.R. § 268.48.

69. These prohibited wastes did not meet the treatment standards for land disposal

of hazardous waste at 40 C.F.R. § 268.40(a), and Defendants' failure to comply with those
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standards therefore violated Section 268(a) of the Wyoming authorized hazardous waste

regulations, incorporating 40 C.F.R. §§ 268.9(c), 268.40(a), and 268.48.

70. Defendants are liable for injunctive relief and civil penalties, pursuant to

Section 3008(a) and (g) of RCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 6928(a), (g), for their continuing failure to meet

the standards for prohibited waste being land disposed in the gypsum stack.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

(EPCRA - Failure to Submit Complete Annual Toxic Release Reports)

71. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 6, paragraphs 23 through 28, and

paragraphs 29 through 45, are re-alleged and incorporated herein by reference.

72. Each of Defendants is a "person" within the meaning of section 329(7) of

EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11049(7), which includes corporations.

73. Each of Defendants is the owner or operator of the Facility, which is a "facility"

as that term is defined by section 329(4) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. § 11049(4), with 10 or more

"full-time employees," as that term is defined by 40 C.F.R. § 372.3.

74. The Facility is within a Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) for which a

corresponding North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) subsector or industry

code is included in 40 C.F.R. § 372.23. Specifically, the Facility is within SIC code 2874 and

NAICS code 325312 for chemical manufacturing and for phosphoric acid production facilities,

respectively.

75. The toxic metal compounds in phosphate ore that have been chemically

converted to different compounds through the acid digestion process at the Facility have been

"manufactured" within the meaning of EPCRA Section 313, 42 U.S.C. § 11023. In each of years

of 2004 through 2006, Defendants manufactured, processed, or otherwise used at the Facility, in

excess of the reporting threshold of 25,000 pounds set forth in 40 C.F.R. § 372.25, the following
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toxic chemicals listed in 40 C.F.R. § 372,65: arsenic compounds, barium compounds, chromium

compounds, copper compounds, hydrogen fluoride, manganese compounds, nickel compounds,

selenium compounds, vanadium compounds, and zinc compounds. Plaintiff believes that, after a

reasonable opportunity for further investigation and discovery, it is likely that the evidence will

show that in each of years 2007 through 2013, Defendants likewise manufactured, processed, or

otherwise used the foregoing toxic chemicals at the Facility in excess of the reporting threshold

of 25,000 pounds, and therefore this fact is also alleged.

76. Pursuant to section 313(c) of EPCRA and 40 C.F.R. § 372.30, Defendants have

been required to submit, to EPA and to the State in which the facility is located, a Form R toxic

release report for each calendar year in which any of the toxic chemicals listed in 40 C.F.R.

§ 372.65 were "manufactured, processed or otherwise used" at the Facility in excess of

25,000 lbs.

77. Defendants did not submit a Form R toxic release report to EPA or to the State

of Wyoming for reporting years 2004 through 2006 that included a listing of the quantities of

arsenic compounds, barium compounds, chromium compounds, copper compounds, hydrogen

fluoride, manganese compounds, nickel compounds, selenium compounds, vanadium

compounds, and zinc compounds manufactured, processed, or otherwise used at the Facility in

each of those years, although their quantities each exceeded the reporting threshold. Plaintiff

believes that, after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation and discovery, it is likely

that the evidence will show that Defendants did not file complete toxic release reports, listing all

or some of these same toxic chemicals manufactured, processed, or otherwise used at the Facility

in excess of the reporting threshold, for the reporting years 2007 through 2013, and therefore this

fact is also alleged.
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78. Defendants' failure to submit complete toxic release reports as required for

reporting years 2003 through 2013 violated the requirements of EPCRA Section 313 and 40

C.F.R. § 372.30.

79. Defendants are liable for civil penalties pursuant to sections 325(b)(3) and

(c)(4) of EPCRA, 42 U.S.C. §§ 11045(b)(3) and (c)(4), for failure to submit complete annual

Form R toxic release reports for reporting years 2004 through 2013.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, the United States, respectfully requests that this Court:

1. Permanently enjoin Defendants from further violations of RCRA and its

implementing regulations that are incorporated into the authorized Wyoming hazardous waste

program;

2. Order Defendants to complete expeditiously all actions necessary to achieve and

maintain compliance at the Facility with the statutory and regulatory requirements cited in this

Complaint;

3. Assess civil penalties against the Defendants for up to the maximum amounts for

the applicable periods of violation provided in RCRA and EPCRA, as amended by 31 U.S.C.

§3701; and,

4. Grant the United States such other relief as the Court deems just and proper.
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Respectfully submitted,

JEFFREY BOSSERT CLARK

Assistant Attorney General
Environment and Natural Resources Division

DAVID ROSSKAM (pro hac vice pending
Environmental Enforcement Section

Environment and Natural Resources Division

United States Department of Justice
P.O. Box 7611

Washington, DC 20004-7611
Telephone: (202) 514-3974
david.rosskam@usdoj.gov

MARK A. KLAASSEN

United States Attorney

lllr^zo
Mcholas Vassallo
Assistant United States Attorney
District of Wyoming
P.O. Box 668

Cheyenne, Wyoming 82003
Telephone; (307) 772-2124
nick.vassallo@usdoj .gov

27

Case 2:20-cv-00125-NDF   Document 1   Filed 07/09/20   Page 27 of 28



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

IT IS HEREBY CERTIFIED that a true and correct copy of the foregoing

COMPLAINT has been served upon the following by the method(s) indicated below on July 9,

2020.

James B. Alderman.

Sr. Vice President, Secretary &
General Counsel

J.R. Simplot Company
P.O. Box 27

Boise. ID 83707

[ ] By Facsimile
[X] By U.S. Mail - postage
prepaid
[ ] By Hand Delivery
[ ] By Electronic Filing

States Attorney's Office
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